Shot Sources


11/22/63
See confused story by James W. Altgens, AP
11/22/63
Interview at 12.45 p.m., of motorcycle policeman J.M. Chaney.  "On the first shot we thought it was a motorcycle backfire.  I looked to my left and so did President Kennedy, looking back over his left shoulder, and when the second shot struck him in the face then we knew someone was shooting at the President.

“Q: When you saw the Bullet hit him, what did he do?”

"A: He slumped forward in the car.  He fell forward in the seat there.”  …

"A: Did you see where the bullet came from or did you see the man with the gun?”

"A: No, all I knew it came over my right shoulder."” KLIF tape, The Fateful Hours, On tape, side I, 206 feet.

11/22/64
Dallas - Dr. Robert R. Shaw, Connally's attending physician, said the Governor "seems to have been struck by just one bullet, which entered the back of his chest and moved outward, taking out and fragmenting a portion of a rib.

"The bullet emerged from his chest and struck his wrist and thigh
.  …”

We know the wound of entrance was along the right shoulder.  He was shot from above. …” AP, Raymond Holbrook, 6:48 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas - The fatal shot came from the second floor of the Texas Schoolbook Depository Building, at a 45-degree angle, 100 yards away.

Police know this ...

Correction, 7:24 p.m. CST: " ... from the fifth floor of the six-story Texas etc." (correcting floor)

11/22/63
Dallas - The shots that killed the President and wounded Texas' Gov. John Connally came from a pre-selected spot, a 5th floor window looking downward some 100 yards from a spot the President's car would pass.  AP, 9:57 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas – [(Jack] Bell said a man and a woman were scrambling on the upper level of a walkway overlooking the underpass.  AP, 12:49 p.m. CST [bulletin matter 2nd add to original bulletin]

11/22/63
Dallas - Jack Bell reported three shots were fired as the motorcade entered the triple underpass which leads to the Stemmons Freeway route to Parkland Hospital.  AP, 12:49 p.m. CST  [bulletin matter second add to original bulletin]

11/22/63
Senator Ralph Yarborough, D-TX, talking only a few minutes before [announcement of the President's death] collapsed in sobs as he told of witnessing the slaying of the President.

Yarborough said he was in the third car behind the President. "It seemed to me that at least two of the shots came from-our right rear," he said. "I cannot say about the third."

In a later story filed at 1:50 p.m.:

Yarborough had counted three rifle shots as the presidential limousine left downtown Dallas through a triple underpass.  The shots were fired from above --possibly from one of the bridges or from a nearby building.

One witness, television reporter Mal Couch, said he saw a gun emerge from an upper story of a warehouse commanding an unobstructed view of the presidential car.  AP, 1:37 p.m. CST Dallas

11/22/63
Dallas - Reporters about five car lengths behind the Chief. Executive heard what sounded like three bursts of gunfire.  UPI, A11N, 1:45 p.m. EST Four Days, p. 23

11/22/63
… There were three loud bursts.

Dallas motorcycle officers escorting the President quickly leaped from their bikes and raced up a grassy hill.  A12N !:46 p.m. EST

11/22/63
Dallas - It seemed evident that there was some planning behind the assassination.  In the Texas School Book Depository building, overlooking the underpass, officers found an old .30 caliber Enfield with telescopic sights, spent cartridges and scraps of fried chicken.  The rifle was partly hidden behind books on the second floor of the five-story building. he bullets had come from about a 45 degree angle.  AP, 5:18, p.m. CST, Frank Cormier

11/22/63
Dallas - Correction "...an old .30 caliber rifle with telescopic sights, etc. ... [deleting Enfield].  AP, 6:49 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas - Correction: "Officers ... described it as a bolt-action, 6.5 mm weapon, apparently of Italian make, with a telescopic sight."  AP, 7:32 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas - eyewitness account of assassination by a Dallas Times-Herald photographer riding in a car close behind the presidential car.

There were five us in the car.  When we heard the first shot, the President had already turned the corner.  We had not made the corner yet.  Then we heard two more shots.

As far as I know, three shots were all I heard.  I just instinctively looked that way.  First, somebody joked about it being a firecracker.

Then, since I was facing the building where the shots were coming from, I just glanced up and saw two colored men in a window straining to look at a window up above them.

As looked up to the window above, I saw rifle being pulled back in the window.  It might have been resting on ' the window sill.  I didn't see a man.  I didn't even see if it had a scope on it.

It was the second floor down from the top of the building and it was the end window facing Elm Street, the corner window.  The President's car was about halfway between Houston Street and the underpass.  We were beginning to turn the corner.  He [the gunman] had about a 45-degree angle from the building to the President's car.

I looked to my left and I could see both cars speeding off, the President’s car and the car behind him carrying the vice president.

Then I could see a colored family covering up their child on the grass a policeman was down on his knee.  I couldn't tell if he were hit.  I thought the child was dead or something.  Then the Negro parents picked up the by and ran.

[Jackson's reference to the second floor from the top where he saw the rifle apparently refers to the 6th floor of the 7-story building.  At the time, most accounts were referring to the fifth floor as where the rifle was found.]  AP, 3:40 p.m. CST, Bob Jackson

11/22/63
Dallas [Editor's note: Jack Bell was in the fourth car behind President Kennedy's.]

There was a loud bang as though a giant firecracker had exploded in the caverns between the tall buildings we were just leaving behind us.

In quick succession there were two other loud reports.  AP, Jack Bell, 5:02 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas - Police sirens rent the air within minutes after Kennedy was shot as officers began their search for the assassin.  Guns drawn, uniformed police raced first toward a railroad embankment where they thought the rifle-wielder was hiding.  AP, 5:36 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas - Mrs. John Connally ... told the story of what happened through an aide, Julian Reid.

Mrs. Connally ... said the President ... and Mrs. Kennedy … were chatting animatedly about the tremendous reception that the chief executive had received in downtown Dallas.

Suddenly, she said, there was a shot ... and the President crumpled back in his seat.  AP, 7:15 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas – [From story on Secret Service security measures]  But the assassin's bullet, fired from behind at the Presidential car after it had passed the six-story book warehouse, did its intended job, despite everything.  AP, 9:32 p.m. CST

11/23/63
Dallas - The crowds thinned and then nearly vanished as the Presidential limousine approached a triple underpass which feeds into a five-lane expressway leading toward the Trade Mart.

The President chatted animatedly with his wife and the Connallys.  His car approached the Texas School Book Depository Building, a six-story structure which overlooks the underpass.

"You can't say Dallas isn't friendly today," Mrs. Connally told the President.

Kennedy started to reply.

At that moment, 12:30 p.m., suddenly from a fifth floor window of the Book Depository Building came three sharp, explosive cracks.  AP, 4:03 a.m. CST, Art Everett, [feature on Kennedy's last day]

11/23/63
Dallas - Main story of day on Oswald.

City detective Ed Hicks, after intensive investigation of the slaying, drew this picture of the hour surrounding the tragedy:

Oswald was working on the fifth floor of the Texas Book Depository, the floor from which the shots were fired.  A man working with him said: "Oswald, let's go see the President."

Oswald replied: "No, you go on down and send the elevator back up."

As Oswald left the building, he was stopped by Dallas police.  He told them he worked in the building and was going down to see what was going on.  AP, 1:45 a.m. CST

11/23/63
Dallas - 1st add assassination story filed at 4:21 a.m.

Police were certain that the assassin's shots were fired from the fifth floor of the Texas School Depository an aging brick building on the western fringe of the business district where a private firm is stores, buys and sells school textbooks.

The bullets traveled about 100 yards at a 45 degree angle.

… On the fifth floor of the school depository where Oswald worked, police found a foreign-made rifle with telescopic sight, partly hidden behind a stack of books.  Spent cartridges and scraps of fried chicken were scattered about.  AP, 4:41 a.m. CST, Frank Cormier

11/23/63
Dallas - [immediately after the shooting]

There was pandemonium.  Police ran up a nearby grass hill in the general direction from which the shots were fired.  AP, UPI, Final Home Edition 2*

[see New York Times, 11/23]

11/23/63
Dallas, [11/22] - As Mr. Kennedy slumped in his seat, the accompanying policemen and Secret Service agents suddenly had automatic rifles and pistols in their hands.  They were apparently caught off guard by the swiftness of the attack.

Several policemen ran to a grassy knoll and into a nearby park behind the Kennedy entourage.  New York Times
11/23/63
Dallas, [11/22] - There were five of us in the car.  [Jackson was riding in a car close behind the presidential car:]

When we heard the first shot, the President had already turned the corner.  We had not made the corner yet.  Then we heard two more shots.

As far as I know, three shots were all I heard.  I just instinctively looked that way.  First, somebody joked about it being a firecracker.

Then, since I was facing the building where the shots were coming from, I just glanced up and saw two men in a window straining to look at a window up above them.

As I looked up to the window above, I saw a rifle being pulled back in the window.  It might have been resting on the window sill.  I didn't see a man.  I didn't even see if it had a scope on it.

It was the second floor down from the top of the building and it was the end window facing Elm Street, the corner window.  The President's car was about half way between Houston Street and the underpass.  We were beginning to turn the corner.  The gunman had about a 45-degree angle from the building to the President's car.  San Francisco Chronicle, AP, Eyewitness Account by Bob Jackson, Dallas Times-Herald staff photographer

11/24/63
Dallas, [11/23] - Moments after the fatal shot was fired at President Kennedy at 12:30 p.m. yesterday, Chief Curry said, he radioed instructions that the Texas School Book Depository Building be surrounded and searched.  … Chief Curry said he could tell from the sound of the three shots that they had come from the book company building …

… The first officer to reach the six-story building, Lieutenant Curry said, found Oswald among other persons in a lunchroom.  New York Times, Donald Jansen, p. 6, col. 7

11/24/63
Some of the Secret Service agents thought the gunfire was from an automatic weapon fired to the right rear of the Chief Executive's car, probably from the grassy knoll to which motorcycle policemen directed their attention as they raced up the slope.  San Francisco Chronicle, recap of first news service bulletins on assassination day. UPI A20N DA / JT 1256PCS

11/24/63
Urgent  The President was shot once in the head.  Connally was hit in the head and wrist.

Police found a foreign-make rifle.  Sheriff's officers were questioning a young man picked up at the scene. UPI A65N DA / JT 141PCS

11/27/63
Dallas, [11/26] - The known facts about the bullets, and the position of the assassin, suggested that he started shooting as the President's car was coming toward him, swung his rifle in an arc of almost 180 degrees and fired at least twice more.  A strip of color movie film taken by a Dallas clothing manufacturer ... tends to support this sequence of events.  The film covers about a 15-second period.  As the President's car comes abreast of the photographer, the President was struck in the front of the neck.  The President turned toward Mrs. Kennedy as she began to put her hands around his head.

At the same time, Governor Connally, riding in front of the President, turned to see what had happened.  Then the President was struck on the head.  His head went forward, then snapped back, as he slumped in his seat.  At that time, Governor Connally was wounded.  New York Times, John Herbers

11/28/63
Dallas - Governor Connally's account of the shooting:

“… We heard a shot.  I turned to my left and the President had slumped.  He said nothing.  As I turned I was hit and I knew I was hit badly.  I knew the President had been hit and I said: 'My god, they're going to kill us all.'  Then there was a third shot and the president was hit again."

[Connally had explained earlier that the car had just turned the corner and was proceeding toward the underpass.]  New York Times, Joseph A. Loftus

11/28/63
Dallas - "We had just turned the corner [onto Elm street] and I heard the shot," Connally said [yesterday] during a closed-circuit television news conference from his bed in Parkland Memorial Hospital.

… When the first shot hit the President, he said: "I turned to the left.

"The President had slumped.  Then I was hit. …"

… Connally said that after he was shot, the President was shot again.

… Saved by four hours of surgery, Connally had been shot through the back.  The bullet fragmented.  It broke three ribs, cut a lung, shattered his right wrist and made a slight wound above the left knee.  UPI
See Shot Sources, 4/21/64.

11/29/63
The caravan had just passed through the downtown area ... and made a sharp left turn at the corner of Elm and Houston Streets, where it headed down an incline into an underpass.  ...  The President and Mrs. Kennedy were smiling and waving as their car passed the brick building ... and disappeared momentarily behind a highway sign
the car comes out from behind the sign.  The President's wave turns into a clutching movement toward his throat.  Governor Connally, who glances around to see what has happened, is himself struck by a bullet and slumps over.  As the President's car approaches a lamppost Mrs. Kennedy suddenly becomes away of what has happened ... while Governor Connally slumps to the floor.  The President collapses on his wife's shoulder ...  Life [no attribution for pictures]

12/63
An 8-mm film of the assassination provides a frame-by-frame chronology of events, and from the movie camera's known speed of 18 frames a second - two frames a second faster than it should have run - it is possible to reconstruct the precise timing and placing and feasibility of the shots.

The first strikes the President, 170 feet away, in the throat; 74 frames later the second fells Governor Connally;  48 frames after that the third, over a distance of 260 feet, hits the President's head.  From first to second shot 4.1 seconds elapse; from second to third, 2.7.seconds.  Altogether the three shots take 6.8 seconds - time enough for a trained sharpshooter, even through the bobbing field of a telescopic sight.  Clayton E. Wheat, Jr., director of the National Rifle Association, fired an identical-make rifle with identical sight against a moving target over similar ranges for Life last week.  He got three hits in 6.2 seconds.  Life, Memorial ed., no paging, no date

12/63
Past the book warehouse the President turned to his right to wave to someone.  Just as his car passed behind the road sign shown in the foreground the first bullet struck him in the neck.  He clutched at his throat.  Although some onlookers heard the shot, Governor Connally still faced ahead, unaware.  With the first bullet still lodged in him, the President slumped forward in his seat and down toward his wife.  At the same time the second shot struck Governor Connally.  Then the assassin fired a third time.  Oswald's last bullet, fired at a range of more than 250 feet about two seconds after the shot which hit the governor, struck the President in the rear right part of his head.  Life, Memorial ed., no date  Pictures attributed to "Dallas clothing manufacturer"

12/63
Since by this time the limousine was 50 yards past Oswald and the President's back was turned almost directly to the sniper, it has been hard to understand how the bullet could enter the front of his throat.  Hence the recurring guess that there was a second sniper somewhere else.  But the 8-mm film shows the President turning his body far around to the right as he waves to someone in the crowd.  His throat is exposed - toward the sniper's nest - just before he clutches it.  Life, Memorial ed., no date

12/63
A Dallas clothing manufacturer had found a point of vantage on a slight slope along the route of the Kennedy motorcade to take pictures ... it is from his film that these pictures are taken. Life, Memorial ed., no date

12/2/63
... The assassin killed President Kennedy with a single shot from a powerful .30-caliber rifle.  The bullet struck to the neck and emerged from the back of the head.  U.S. News & World Report, The Tragic End of John F. Kennedy, p 32

12/3/63
Washington - by Sterling F. Green, without naming source.

[Paraphrase] Exhaustive FBI report now nearly ready, basic documentary, but small leads and tips still being checked.  Shows Oswald was the one and unaided assassin.  First and third shots struck President, either could have killed him.  Second shot missed him and hit Connally.  About 51 seconds elapsed between the first and third shots, but believed he could have aimed and fired that rapidly.  All 3 came from same direction, behind and slightly to the right of President's car, giving assassin a target moving approximately in direction of his line of fire.  Ballistics studies indicate same rifle fired all three shots.

12/6/63
... from the movie earner's known speed of 18 frames a second - two frames faster than it should have run - it is possible to reconstruct the precise timing and placing and feasibility of the shots.

The first strikes the President, 170 feet away, in the throat; 74 frames later the seconds fells Governor Connally; 48 frames after that the third, over a distance of 260 feet, hits the President's head.  From first to second shot 4.1 seconds elapse; from second to third, 2.7 seconds.  Altogether the three shots take 6.8 seconds --time enough for a trained sharpshooter, even through the bobbing field of a telescopic sight.  …  Life, End to Nagging Rumors, Paul Mandel.

12/6/63
... The description of the President's two wounds by a Dallas doctor to who tried to save him have added to the rumors.  The doctor said one bullet passed from the back to the front on the right side of the President's head.  But the other, the doctor reported, entered the President's throat from the front and then lodged in his body.

Since by this time the limousine was 50 yards past Oswald and the President's back was turned almost completely to the sniper, it has been hard to understand how the bullet could enter the front of his throat.  Hence the recurring guess that there was a second sniper somewhere else.  But the 8-mm film shows the President turning his body around to the right as he waves to someone in the crowd.  His throat is exposed - towards the sniper's nest - just before he clutches it. …  Life, End to Nagging Rumors, Paul Mandel.

12/10/63
Washington, [12/9] - ... U. E. Baughman, former Secret Service chief who retired in 1961, backed down today on a remark that he did not understand why agents had not peppered the sniper's window with machine-gun fire.  Mr. Baughman said that "when that question was raised in an interview. I had assumed that the shots came from across the street."  New York Times, Joseph A. Loftus

12/14/63
... the next day [12/23] ... at 10 p.m. we dodged cars and went out and stood in the middle lane of Elm Street, just before the second street light; right where the road does down and, 20 yards farther, starts to go under the underpass.  It was right at this spot, right where this long crack ran through the gray Texas asphalt, that the bullets reached President Kennedy's car.  Saturday Evening Post, Jimmy Breslin

12/17/63
Washington, [12/16] - The [FBI report to Warren Commission] takes a firm position against various reports that at least one of the bullets that hit Mr. Kennedy had come from in front of him.

Such a theory would conflict with the fact that Oswald was allegedly firing from a window above and behind the President.

The FBI report said the shots came from that window.  It said Mr. Kennedy was hit by two bullets, one where the right shoulder joins the neck and the other in the right temple.  New York Time
12/17/63
Washington - The findings of pathologists who conducted a post mortem examination of Kennedy's body at the Bethesda, MD, Naval Hospital have not been made public.  However, a source familiar with the results gave the following account:

The first bullet made what was described as a small, neat wound in the back and penetrated two or three inches.  The source said that this bullet struck no vital organs and was not likely to have inflicted a fatal wound.  He raised the possibility that it might have ricocheted off some portion of the limousine before striking the President because it did not penetrate deeply.  The second bullet to strike Kennedy, the source said, entered the back of the skull and tore open his forehead.

Doctors who tried to revive Kennedy at Parkland Hospital initially reported two wounds - one in the back of the head and a second in the throat.  These physicians never saw the wound in the back, apparently because Kennedy was lying on his back on an emergency room table during the entire time they were ministering to him.  Many observers were puzzled from the outset by the report of a throat wound, since it was well established that the assassin was firing from above and behind the President.  The pathologists at Bethesda, the source said, concluded that the throat wound was caused by the emergence of a metal fragment or piece of bone stemming from the fatal shot in the head.  AP, 12:13 a.m. EST, Frank Cormier

12/19/63
Washington, [12/18] - Description of what pathologists [at Bethesda] were said to have found in an autopsy on President Kennedy's body:

The account, printed in The Washington Post, gave detailed support to the Federal Bureau of Investigation's finding that two bullets had hit Mr. Kennedy from the rear.  The FBI came to this conclusion in its report on the assassination.

The pathologists were said to have found that a first bullet hit the President in the back of the right shoulder, five to seven inches below the collar-line.  The bullet lodged in the body.  … It caused a hematoma, or a pooling of blood, inside the neck and shoulder muscles.

The second shot, it was said, hit the right rear of Mr. Kennedy's head and caused such destruction as to be "completely incompatible with life."  A fragment of this bullet, according to the report, passed out the front of the throat.  This presumably would account for various reports suggesting - on the basis of the hurried observations of doctors in Dallas after the shooting ... that there was an "entry wound" in the front of the throat.  …  The FBI, in its report ... stated flatly that both bullets had come from the window where Oswald assertedly was.  New York Times, p. 5

12/19/63
Police Chief Curry, who was riding in a car just 40 feet ahead of the limousine carrying the President, said he could tell from the sound of the three shots that they had come from the book company's building.  Moments after the shots were fired, Curry said, he radioed instructions that the building be surrounded and searched [ New York Times, 11/24].  The deployment of 500 officers from his 1,100-man force made fast action possible in the manhunt, he said.  

12/19/63
[Richard] Dudman wrote in the St. Louis Post-Dispatch [12/1]: "Another unexplained circumstance is a small hole in the windshield of the presidential limousine.  This correspondent and one other man saw the hole, which resembled a bullet hole, as the automobile stood at the hospital emergency entrance while the President was being treated inside the building.

"The Secret Service kept possession of the automobile and flew it back to Washington.  A spokesman for the agency rejected a request to inspect the vehicle here [Washington].  He declined to discuss any hole there might have been in the windshield."  Lane brief, National Guardian
12/21/63
[Description of viaduct on overpass.]

… Railroad police seem to have been assigned responsibility there.  [No Trespassing signs.]  Railroad police chased away an Associated Press photographer who tried to set up his camera there before the motorcade arrived.  But the precautions apparently were not perfect.  Early reports of the shooting told of a police pursuit of a man and woman seen running on the viaduct.  There was no report they were caught.  Regardless, their presence indicates that unauthorized persons had access to that vantage point …  The New Republic, Commentary of an Eyewitness, Richard Dudman

12/21/63
… Three circumstances - the entry wound in the throat, the small, round hole in the windshield of the Presidential limousine, and the number of bullets found afterward - suggested that there had been a second sniper firing from a point in front of the automobile.

...  Dr. Robert McClelland, one of the three doctors who worked on-the throat wound, told me afterward that they still believed it to be an entry wound, even though the shots were said to have been fired from almost directly behind the President.

… A few of us noticed the hole in the windshield when the limousine was standing at the emergency entrance.  … I could not approach close enough to see on which side was the cup-shaped spot that indicates a bullet has pierced the glass from the opposite side.  The New Republic, Commentary of an Eyewitness, Richard Dudman

See Shot Sources, 4/4/64, National Guardian

12/21/63
... The central problem - the fact that the President was wounded in the front of the throat ... remains.  Life and Newsweek place the President's car 170 and 150 feet past the turn at the time of the first shot: a shorter distance than our estimate, but much too distant from the window for a shot through the front of the neck.  Life [12/6] recognizes this problem, but solves it by saying that the President was turning far to the right at the moment of impact.  [in spite of his brace].  This explanation appears to fail for two reasons.  First, Life's own pictures of the event in the issue of 11/29 show the President looking straight ahead.  Second, Elm Street curbs left as it passes the warehouse building ... in such a way that when the first bullet struck, the President's back was to the window.  In order for a bullet to have entered "the mid-section of the front part of his neck" the President would have had to turn completely around just before the shot was fired.  The New Republic, Seeds of Doubt, Jack Minnis and Staughton Lynd, last paragraph.

12/23/63
And the stories of a windshield bullet hole in the Kennedy limousine?  The FBI didn't mention it, but other sources said it was fractured - not punctured - from inside, probably by a ricocheting fragment.  Newsweek, Report from the FBI, p. 19

12/28/63
Dallas physicians who treated President Kennedy's throat wound have reversed themselves, calling it an exit instead of an entry wound as they first had said.

Their revised opinion brings them into line with the report of an autopsy made at the United States Naval Hospital at Bethesda, MD., and the FBI's report on the assassination, now in the hands of the special commission headed by Chief Justice Warren. Neither document has been made public, but both have been widely leaked to quell suspicions that Lee Harvey Oswald may not have been the only sniper who fired at the President.

Two Secret Service agents called on the Dallas surgeons and obtained the reversal.  [No officials had questioned the doctors until that visit.]  They did so by showing the surgeons a document described as the autopsy report.  It told of another wound, where the right shoulder met the back of the neck, and said the bullet entered there and went out through the front of the throat.

Dr. Robert N. McClelland and Dr. Malcom Perry, who had originally called the throat wound an entry wound, now agree that the shot came from behind, as did the second shot, which struck Governor John Connally, and the third, which tore a gaping hole in the back of the President's head.  Dr. McClelland has explained the original estimate by pointing out that the doctors in Dallas had charge of the President only 22 minutes, that they were concerned with trying to save his life rather than trace the courses of the bullets, and that they had no time for a complete examination and no knowledge of the circumstances of the shooting. The New Republic, Where the Shots Came From
12/30/63
... One of the latest reports to gain wide circulation is that four shots, not three were fired.

This report is based on eyewitness accounts of what seemed to be a bullet hole in the windshield of the car ... suggesting that a fourth bullet was fired …

A report out of Detroit, where the Presidential car was sent to be armor-plated, mentions also “what appears to be a bullet hole in the floor pan of the car."

Witnesses, and the FBI as well as the Secret Service, agree that only three shots were fired.

The first struck President Kennedy in the back, just below the collar bone, and lodged in his body.

The second shot struck Governor Connally and fragmented.  Bullets hitting bone can splinter.  A splinter from the bullet apparently hit the windshield of the car.  Another splinter could have penetrated the floor pan.

The third bullet struck President Kennedy in the back of the head, causing death.  This bullet also fragmented somewhat.

It seems clear that the bullet splinters provided the basis for rumors of more than three shots.  …  U.S. News & World Report, As the Warren Inquiry Starts - Latest on the Assassination. [Roundup of Rumors and "Facts"], p. 28.

Winter 64
… Ronnie Dugger, The Texas Observer: What Happened? a reporter called out inside the bus ahead of me.  Through the windows we saw people breaking and running down Elm Street in the direction of the underpass, and running to the railing of the arch at the foot of the downtown section and leaping out of our sight onto the grass beyond and below ... [We speculated someone might have dropped something onto the motorcade from the overpass.  I saw an airplane above the area and wondered if it might have been dropping something.  Columbia Journalism Review, The Reporter’s Story 

1/3/64
Dudman, St. Louis Post-Dispatch, who saw a small hole in windshield of Kennedy car, tried to see [assuming it was made by a bullet] whether the shot had come from the front or the rear.  Secret Service would not permit it.  Car was flown to Washington, then sent to Dearborn, where it was dismantled and the windshield removed.  Lane interview

See Shot Source, 12/19/63, Lane brief

1/3/64
According to Dudman [12/1, St. Louis Post-Dispatch], it was very plain to the doctors that the wound in the throat was an entrance wound.  The three doctors all took exactly the same position.  Incision made by Dr. Perry followed the path of the bullet downward from the throat into the chest.  When it was reported that the shot was fired after the car had passed the building, the three doctors said in that case Kennedy must have turned around completely to the rear of the car.  Lane interview

1/3/64
No attribution - The FBI never spoke to the three doctors on the team, nor questioned them about the bullets or the wounds, in terms of direction of bullets or type of wounds inflicted.  Lane interview

1/3/64
First story leaked by FBI [and pictures of building, window, trajectory] indicated car was approaching building when first shot was fired.  Second shot when car had just passed the building.  Third shot when automobile had gone 75-150 yards beyond the building.  Lane interview

1/3/64
No attribution - When the FBI said the first shot was fired as the car was approaching the building, Connally said this was totally untrue, the shot came after the turn, when the President's back was to the building.  FBI then briefed Life Magazine which said [An End to Nagging Rumors] that Kennedy had turned completely around.  [Life, Memorial Edition – First Answers to the Nagging Rumors: the 8-mm film shows the President turning his body far around to the right as he waves to someone in the crowd.  His throat is exposed - toward the sniper's nest – just before he clutches it.]  Their own pictures a week before showed him looking directly ahead.  Lane interview

1/3/64
No attribution - At the re-enactment of the assassination, all the witnesses said the first bullet was fired after the car had passed the building and the President's back was toward the building.  Lane interview

1/3/64
No attribution - The story ... that the wound in the throat was caused by the bullet's exit: "Dr. Perry recently said [this is unpublished] he knows more than he is now permitted to say; he understands that the bullet was fired from the rear and that this will tie up the whole FBI case, and his present position under these circumstances is that he is satisfied that it may have been an exit wound."  [Verbatim, Mark Lane]

1/15/64
New York – [Mark] Lane also claimed that many witnesses are willing to testify that the sound of firing at the time of the assassination came not from the rear of the Presidential car, but from an overpass directly in front.  AP. 4:43 p.m. CST, Raleigh H. Allsbrook

1/64
[In Emergency Room One] the President lay … on a wheeled aluminum litter.  He was stripped to the waist, shoes off, the brace for his bad back still on.  Surgeon Charles James Carrico was already at work on him.  The Torch is Passed, p. 14

2/9/64
Someone who was at the Trade Mart heard the first police radio report there, and said it said, "The President has been shot.  Connally may also have been injured.  Police are moving in on the underpass."  Lane talk

2/18/64
New York - story on meeting at Town Hall, [2/18].

[Mark Lane said he had found an "eyewitness" to the assassination who claims to have heard between four and six shots at the time the late President was killed.

… Lane said the "eyewitness" was a Dallas school teacher but did not give her name.  He amplified a recording in which the Dallas woman purportedly recounted hearing four to six shots fired from the opposite direction of the building from which Oswald is alleged to have fired the fatal shots.

2/18/64
New York – [At an airport news conference, Mark Lane asserted that he believed there had been a "plot" that involved "shots fired at the President from more than one direction."

Four employees of the Dallas Morning News, Mr. Lane said, described shots from an overpass in front of the Kennedy car … A Ft. Worth Star-Telegram reporter, he said, told him that the first police radio alarm had asserted "all of the shots appear to have come from the overpass."  New York Times, Peter Kihss

2/24/64
Dallas - Assassin's lair, story on what the School Book Depository looks like now.  Description of the view from the sixth floor window.

...  In the middle ground expressways curve amongst themselves.  On the overpass above Stemmons Freeway a Santa Fe Diesel engine rattles freight cars into line.  …  Looking down and to the right is Elm St., bending under the overpass by a blue sign that says "Fort Worth, keep right."  It s just this side of the sign, about 75 yards away, that it happened.  The assassin had to wait until the presidential car reached there because a tree's branches, leafless now, block Elm St. from sight before that spot.  AP, 1:58 a.m. EST, Sid Moody

3/64
Article blaming the FBI for not advising the Secret Service and Dallas Police about Oswald.

[Quotes Dallas traffic patrolman W. E. Barnett, posted directly in front of the Book Depository building]

"When the motorcade made its turn and started toward the freeway, I head a sharp cracking noise.  At first I thought it was some joker shooting off a firecracker.  Within three seconds, there was another report.  I looked behind me, up at the roof of the building.  But I saw nothing.

"Then there was a third shot, again within three seconds, and I saw the President slump, shot.  I was certain the shots had come from high up in the building.  So I sprinted toward the rear of the book building to cut off an escape route from the back of it.

"Why the back?  In law enforcement, identification of the suspect is all-important.  If the sniper was a stranger, he would try to escape out the back.  If he was an employee and went out the front with the crowd, he always could be identified through routine investigation later.  I was certain the sniper was a stranger.  It seemed obvious that if he'd been a building employee with enough motivation to assassinate the President, the police would have been informed about him."  Saga, William W. Turner, p. 9 et seq.
3/64
Quoting Roy Truly: "I knew they were shots, but had no idea they were fired from the "building."  Commentary, Leo Sauvage

3/4/64
p. 3 - Cites interviews with witnesses and published accounts of shots from knoll area.  Mark Lane’s Testimony Before the Warren Commission
3/4/64
p. 4 - Thayer Waldo, at Trade Mart, heard first bulletin over police radio, including "the shots came from a triple overpass in front of the Presidential automobile." Mark Lane’s Testimony Before the Warren Commission
3/7/64
[Mark] Lane has revealed to the Guardian the fourth in the series of 20 documents obtained from Wade's files, ... the affidavit of the policeman who found the weapon allegedly used to assassinate Kennedy.  The officer testified that he was standing at the intersection of Main and Houston Streets when the shots were fired at the Presidential motorcade.  "I ran northwest in the direction of the shots," he said, "but then someone shouted, 'Go to the Old Texas Building.’”  National Guardian
[Seymour Weitzman?, CE 2003, Hearings XXIX, p. 228.]

3/9/64
Washington - The windshield of the limousine in which President ... Kennedy was riding when he was shot was brought today before the presidential Commission …

… The windshield was carried to the hearing room wrapped in an olive drab blanket.  Rep. Gerald Ford ... confirmed that it was from the President's car and had been brought into the hearing room.

Both he and. Senator John Sherman Cooper ... declined to answer questions about it.  AP, 1:24 p.m. CST

3/10/64
Washington - Sources have said previously that fragments of one of the bullets that killed Kennedy damaged the windshield.  AP, 1:15 p.m. CST

3/15/64
San Francisco - Lane lists among nine witnesses who say they heard shots from grassy knoll Representative Henry Gonzalez, D-TX.

In Dallas, Gonzalez denied making such statement.

Lane said his statement must have been misrepresented to Gonzalez.  "It can't comment further until I know what he thinks I said."  AP

3/19/64
Thayer Waldo, of the Ft. Worth Star Telegram, was at the Trade Mart and heard the first police bulletin: "The President has been shot.  It is feared that others in his party have been shot as well.  It appears that all the shots came from the direction of the overpass."  Mark Lane at Sun-Reporter

3/21/64
[Mark] Lane,, speaking in San Francisco, revealed 3/15 that he had collected statements from nine witnesses to the assassination indicating that the shots were fired from a knoll to the right and in front of Kennedy's auto.  …  Among the witnesses was Representative Henry Gonzalez [D-TX], who later denied having made such a statement.  National Guardian

3/28/64
"A theory on Kennedy killing - Writer postulates a conspiracy involving 7 persons"

Story on articles by Thomas Buchanan in L'Express, Paris.  National Guardian
4/64
... 12:45 p.m. Motorcycle Patrolman J. M. Chaney provides KLIF with the first eyewitness account.

"On the first shot we thought it was a motorcycle backfire.  I looked to my left and saw President Kennedy looking back over his left shoulder.  And when the second shot struck him in the face we knew someone was ... [hesitates] ... shooting at the President."

Q: "When you saw the bullet hit him, what did he do?"

A: "He slumped forward in the car.  He fell :forward into the seat there." …

Q: "Did you see where the bullet came from or did you see the man with the gun?” From notes from The Fateful Hours, a Capital Custom Record [RB-2278] by KLIF, Dallas, issued earlier in the year.

4/4/64
“One of the main anxieties" in Washington, [Thomas] Buchanan reported, was "to discredit by all means" the testimony of St. Louis Post-Dispatch reporter Richard Dudman that there was a "small, round bullet hole" in the front windshield of President Kennedy's car.  Other newsmen insisted that Dudman "must have been mistaken" but the windshield had been brought to the Commission and taken away again under wraps, and the newsmen never got a look at it.  National Guardian

See Shot Sources, 12/21/63, Richard Dudman; Warren Commission, 3/9/64, AP, 124, pcs

4/4/64
In Dallas, [Thomas] Buchanan looked into the theory that Ruby might have been the assassin on the bridge.  [Buchanan has theorized that the assassination involved a plot by several persons.]  In any case Ruby was alone in the Dallas Morning News building just before the crime, and was also there a few minutes after it, and no one saw him in the interim.  [Buchanan had already noted that it is a 2½-minute run from the bridge to the newspaper office.]  Neither Ruby's lawyer nor prosecutor Wade probed at the trial into whether or not Ruby showed signs of a recent physical effort when the newspaper's employees returned to the building on the assassination day.  National Guardian

4/11/64
Orange, TX. - Ben O. Levy, Houston Lawyer who says he would have been the attorney for Lee Harvey Oswald, said today that Oswald had been "nailed to the cross" by the press and district attorney Henry Wade.

… Levy said his defense of Oswald would have centered around what he said was the fact that the first of two bullets to strike Kennedy entered the front of his throat.

"Yet the window from which Oswald was supposed to have fire the shot was to the back of the President when the firing occurred," Levy said.

Newsreel films, Levy added, showed the President facing away from the book depository building at the time of the shooting …  AP, James W. Mangan

4/21/64
Washington – [Story on Governor Connally testifying before Warren Commission.  Story includes an account of an interview he gave a few days after the shooting [11/28?].]

Then, said Connally, "we had just turned the corner.  We heard a shot ... I turned to my left and looked in the back seat.  The President had slumped.  He said nothing.

"Almost simultaneously, as I turned, I was hit, and I knew I'd been hit badly, and I said - I knew the President had been hit - and I said, 'My God, they're going to kill us all.'

"And then there was a third shot, and the President was hit again ... "  AP, 12:52 p.m. CST

See Shot sources, 11/28

5/10/64
Dallas - A witness has told the Warren Commission that he saw a man with a rifle in a sixth floor window of the Texas School Boots Depository 15 minutes before President Kennedy was assassinated.

The witness said the armed man he saw was at the southwest corner.

Lee Harvey Oswald allegedly fired the assassination bullets from the southeast corner window.

... Forrest Sorrels, Secret Service agent-in-charge of the Dallas office, confirmed that agents had questioned the witness on 11/22.

The witness was described as a 20-year-old part-time college student.  Sorells said the man testified before the Warren Commission in March.  [Arnold Louis Rowland?]  San Francisco Chronicle, AP
5/14/64
Washington - ... It was learned … that the FBI has established to its satisfaction that there was no other person than Oswald in the window of the Texas School Book Depository from which the fatal shots were fired ...

There had been a flurry of reports, never substantiated, that a second figure had been seen at the window.  Informed officials said this definitely had been ruled out.  AP, 138 pcs

5/27/64
Dallas - A. re-enactment has established that bullets killing President Kennedy and wounding Texas Governor John Connally could have been fired only from the Texas School Book Depository building, the Times Herald reported today.

... In addition to taking movies from [the sixth floor] window, the Times Herald said FBI agents filmed similar angle shots from a grassy embankment just west of the building in downtown Dallas and from an adjacent triple underpass.

… In the opinion of investigators, it would have been impossible for anyone of the three bullets ... to have been fired from either of these points.

… Looking through the gun sight of the rifle used by the assassin and exact measurement of the angle from the window, plus the results of the official autopsies [?] and medical reports, leave no doubt the bullets were fired from the depository building.

AP, 1:10 p.m. CST

5/28/64
Dallas - A re-enactment of the assassination of President Kennedy has proved that the bullets could have been fired only from the Texas School Book Depository building, the Dallas Times Herald said today.

The newspaper said that it had been informed by reliable sources that the Warren Commission's sole purpose in the re-enactment, last Sunday, was to prove this.

The Times Herald said the re-enactment had been prompted by continuing reports that the bullets last 11/22 came from either the triple underpass near Elm and Houston Streets or from a grassy knoll.  New York Times, UPI
5/27/64
Dallas - The Dallas Times Herald quoted an auto salesman today as saying he believes one of the three bullets fired at President Kennedy 11/22 hit a curb about 10 feet in front of the salesman and grazed his face.

"What bothers me is why nobody has taken an interest in my story before," said the 27-year-old Dallas man who asked that his name not be used.

,.. He said he told his story [11/22] to a detective and was interviewed, by FBI agents in mid-December.  AP, 8:03 p.m. CST

6/6/64
Dallas - Last week, KRLD-TV said in a copyrighted story that the third shot went wild.  The station quoted a source close to the Warren Commission was saying the first bullet apparently struck both President Kennedy and Texas Governor John Connally and the second hit the President in the head.

[A Dallas auto salesman], who asked that his name not be used, [told the Dallas Times-Herald yesterday that] either the bullet or a concrete chip grazed his face as he stood by a concrete abutment on the east side of the triple underpass watching the motorcade as it turned on Elm and Houston.  He said he thought it was the second bullet fired.  San Francisco Chronicle, UPI

6/8/64
Tokyo -- Glenn Troelstrup's interview with special security agent Atsuyuki Sassa.

... Said agent Sassa: "President Kennedy was hit by a steel-jacketed high-powered bullet.  It hit the back of the skull, pushing ahead a skull fragment the size of a quarter through the side of his brain.

"A sliver off the bullet came out of the lower left of the neck, giving rise to early speculation that it was from a shot made from in front of the car."

Sassa continued: "President Kennedy was dead before he arrived at the hospital.  If he had not been a President, no doctor would have tried an operation."

... "The bullet sliver wound on the President's neck left a scar so clean it was overlooked at first.  Then it was thought it might be an entrance wound from a shot fired in front of the President's car.  Later, however, the sliver was found on the car floor.  Its route was traced in the autopsy.  But even without that evidence, to make such a wound from the front the assassin would have had to lie on the pavement ahead of the car.  Also his shot would have had to penetrate the front windshield.

"No shot from a nearby bridge could have made such a hit."

"The accusers say that three shots cannot be fired from a telescopic-sight equipped, high-powered rifle in slightly over five seconds.  Well, the FBI officially timed the shooting as taking over six seconds - from 6.5 to 6.6 seconds.  Also remember that you count after the first shot is squeezed.  That means Buchanan contends two more shots couldn't be fired accurately in about 6 seconds.  Do you see the psychological falsification or trap in the Buchanan argument?  Any marksman can do what was done and hit the target.  Any nonexpert can do it and come close." …  U.S. News & World Report, New Light on the Assassination: A Secret Agent's Story, p. 38

6/8/64
... On 5/24 investigators for the Warren Commission re-enacted the assassination in Dallas, in order to prove, with photographs and other evidence, that the bullets fired at the President could have come only from the Texas School Book Depository building, and not from in front of the car.

The Dallas Times Herald said the re-enactment proved conclusively that if the bullets had been fired from in front of the car they would have had to go through the limousine's windshield to hit either the President or Governor John Connally who was wounded by one of the assassin's bullets. … U.S. News & World Report, p. 38. New Light on the Assassination: A Secret Agent's Story. P. 39

7/2/64
Dallas - "I don't think the Warren Commission has any doubts about the place where the shots came from."  Wade said "We had a number of people - about a dozen, I recall - who said they saw the gun in the window of the Depository building.

"Some of them said they could see a man holding the gun.  I know officers showed them pictures to determine whether they could identify Oswald." AP, 10:31 p.m. CST

7/16/64
Dallas - FBI agents combed an area near the triple underpass yesterday [where] a bullet may have nicked the curb 11/22 ...

… A motorist told officers minutes after the assassination that he was stung by a small object while watching the Kennedy motorcade.

Deputies found [See Bullets, 6/5, 6/6/64] a fresh chip in concrete curbing near the spot where he said he stood, which they said could have been made by a stray bullet or fragment of a bullet.  AP. 10:10 a.m. CST

7/24/64
Dallas - … Jim Tague, Dallas car salesman struck in the face by a ricocheting ballet believed to have been fired as Kennedy was slain last 11/22, was another witness yesterday [before a Warren commission investigator].

… Tague has told of standing in a direct line with an upstairs window from which; the shots came.  There has been speculation that the third bullet [went wild and] hit in front of him and ricocheted to graze his cheek.  AP, 7:51 p.m. CST

8/64
… [The President's] face was completely expressionless,  as if the person had gone.

Sitting on my right, John turned very fast to his right, trying to look at the President.  Not getting him in his line of vision, he started turning to his left, and the second bullet hit him.  I heard John say, "They're going to kill us all!"  He recoiled to his right and slumped over, still upright in his seat  ...  I pulled him down into my lap …  McCall's: Since that day in Dallas [Mrs. John Connally]

8/5/64
Dallas - A foot-long section of curbing, believed to hold the markings of a stray bullet fired during the assassination, was removed today and sent to the Warren Commission in Washington.

[Removed from south side of Main Street near triple underpass; JFK car was on Elm street, the northernmost of the streets which converge on the underpass; Main is the middle street of the three.]  AP, 1035 pcs

9/64
Photographs taken at the scene of the crime could be most helpful. One young lady standing just to the left of the presidential car as the shots were fired took photographs of the vehicle just before and during the shooting, and was thus able to get into her picture the entire front of Book Depository building.  Two FBI agents immediately took the film which she took.  Why has the FBI refused to publish what could be the most reliable evidence in the whole crime?  The Minority of One, 16 Questions on the Assassination, Bertrand Russell, p. 7

9/27/64
In interview, Connally disagrees with Warren Report, says hit by second shot, not the first., CBS-TV program on Warren Report.

9/28/64
Austin - AP interview to same effect.  AP, 753 acs

9/28/64
UPI story to same effect.  San Francisco News Call Bulletin 

9/28/64
UPI story to same effect.  San Francisco Examiner.

See Warren Report-Comment

10/3/64
Discussion of more than three shots heard by Jean Hill, see story, page 3.  National Guardian, Mark Lane

10/3/64
The Commission itself concedes that many of the witnesses to the assassination insist that the shots they heard came from the direction of the railroad bridge or a grassy knoll between the bridge and the Book Depository Building.  … The Commission discusses the matter as follows:

"Speculation.  There are witnesses who alleged that the shots came from the overpass.

"Commission Finding.  The Commission does not have knowledge of any witness who saw shots fired from the overpass." National Guardian, Mark Lane

1-3/65
Pioneering, basic analysis of Warren Report and supplements evidentiary material on the shots, trajectories and wounds, time factors and testimony - all leading to conclusions different from those of the Report.  Liberation, 2 issues, The Warren Report?, Vincent J. Salandria

3/65
Shows 51 witnesses thought shots came from grassy knoll area, 32 thought from Texas School Book Depository. Minority of One, Fifty-one Witnesses, Harold Feldman

3/1/65
Story on Harold Feldman's analysis in Minority of One of testimony of eyewitnesses, showing 51 thought shots came from grassy knoll while 32 thought from Texas School Book Depository.  New York Times.

3/3/65
San Francisco Chronicle story, shorter version of Liberation articles.

5/28/66
[Discussion of books by Epstein and Weisberg].  Single bullet theory developed by Arlen Specter.

"... Films of the assassination proved that Mr. Kennedy and Connally were wounded within a period of one-half second, at the minimum, and less than two seconds at the maximum.

It was physically impossible for a sniper to fire two rounds in that flash of time from a bolt-action rifle, of the type Oswald used. Thus, Mr. Kennedy and Connally were struck by the same bullet or two men fired two different bullets."  Times-Post Service, Richard Harwood

5/30/66
[Discussion of books by Epstein and Weisberg].

If the FBI statements [in its reports of 12/9/63, and 1/13/64] are not errors, they could unhinge the central conclusions of the Commission report: that Lee Harvey Oswald was probably the sole assassin.  An FBI spokesman said Sunday, however, that the statements are in error.  LA Times, Robert J. Donovan.

6/13/66
Discussion of direction, timing, spacing, number of shots.  The Nation, Fred J. Cook, p. 705

6/28/66
Dallas - Review of the persistence of conspiracy theories.

... There are eyewitnesses who are still convinced there was a second gunman.  There are photographs, blown up many times, which - like making out an elephant in a cloud formation - seem to show a rifleman atop a grassy knoll. ...

Cites S. M. Holland, who was on the overpass, saying he heard four shots, 1, 2 and 4 from the building, No. 3 from the knoll accompanied by a puff of smoke.

Cites Lee J. Bowers, in the signal tower, seeing extra men and cars, then a flash in the trees atop the knoll at the time of the shooting.

Cites Mrs. Jean Hill, who chased a man running along the knoll. LA Herald-Examiner, UPI, JFK Death: A Second Gunman?  Jack V. Fox

7/13-20/66
Close examination of eyewitness testimony and evidence, and the conflicts between these and the Warren Report's conclusions.

... Such a reconstruction ... suggests very strongly that someone else [besides Oswald] was firing at the President from another vantage point, with a different rifle, on a different and far flatter trajectory.  The evidence argues further that the Stemmons Freeway sign may well have been a pre-designated firing point.  It would be a standard ambush tactic to zero in on the roadway at such a landmark, and to begin firing when the President reached this precise point.

That would explain, as the Commission’s version does  not, the rapidity, of the first two shots that hit President Kennedy and Governor Connally; it would not conflict head on with Governor Connally’s assertion that he was wounded by the second shot; and it might explain, assuming that rifle reports in such circumstances would almost blend, the confusion in the middle of witnesses about the number of shots and their incredibly close spacing.  … The Nation [2 issues] pp. 705 & 737, Some Unanswered Questions, and Testimony of the Eyewitnesses, Fred J. Cook.

7/28/66
... When I visited the scene of the crime, the ideal place for the shot to have come from seemed to be the parking lot on top of the knoll.  It has a picket fence; perfect for resting the gun upon.  It can't be seen from the overpass.  A shot or shots fired from there would get the right angles to conform to the medical evidence and the pictures.  The New York Review of Books, The Second Oswald: The Case for a Conspiracy Theory, Richard R. Popkin, p. 11

10/10/66
Specter.  … the mark on the windshield of the presidential limousine … indicated that at least a fragment of a bullet had struck the windshield from the rear.

Q. Was that mark on the inside of the windshield?

A. Yes.  U.S. News & World Report, Interview of Arlen Specter, p. 55

10/10/66
Q. Could we take up specific points that are raised by critics of the investigation?  One is the statement that 58 of 90 witnesses at the scene … believe, or testified, that shots came from the grassy knoll ...
Why did you reject their testimony?

A. Because auditory response on the origin of shots is totally unreliable in so many situations, especially where you have the acoustical situation present at Dealey Plaza in Dallas, where tall buildings were present on three sides. ... Digesting the evidence as a whole, there simply was no credible evidence that any shot came from the grassy knoll. U.S. News & World Report, Interview of Arlen Specter, p. 55

11/22/66
Washington, Dick Barnes - assassination controversy roundup. ends:

In Dallas, two witness to the assassination differed about the source of the shots.

In one interview, S. M. Holland said one and possibly two shots were fired at the motorcade from behind a wooden fence adjacent to the triple underpass ...  But in a separate interview, Charles F. Brehm said “I don't think it is possible for the shots to come anywhere else" but the Texas School Book Depository … AP, A13 et seq. 209aes

11/22/66
Mark Lane ... made available yesterday a new chapter [of his book] written for a French translation to be published by Editions Arthaud this week.

In this Mr. Lane offered a five-shot hypothesis.  This would have a bullet strike President Kennedy in the back, and a second bullet hit him in the throat from the front.  A third bullet would hit Governor Connally.  A fourth would miss the ... limousine, but shatter off a sidewalk curb to graze a spectator [Tague] in the face.  A fifth fired from the right would inflict the fatal head wound on President Kennedy. New York Times, Peter Kihss
11/22/66
Dallas - "There definitely was a shot fired from behind that fence," maintains S. M. Holland [who was standing on overpass, 11/22/63].  ... He said in an interview ... that one and possibly two shots were fired [from that area].  "Four or five of us saw it, the smoke," Holland said.  "One of my employees even saw the muzzle flash."

"The way the Warren Commission published my testimony, it was kind of watered down some.  It made it seem that I wasn't really sure whether I'd heard a shot from the fence.  But I own too many guns myself, and I've done too much hunting.  I know a rifle shot when I hear one," he said.

Asked why he thought the Commission would delete or alter any of his testimony, Holland replied: "Well, obviously, what I had to say pretty seriously conflicted with their official version."  Oakland Tribune [AP]

Tom Johnson: Holland said that to his knowledge none of the other railroad employees with him that day /were/ interviewed by the Commission.  "I feel sure they all would corroborate what I say," he said.

He added that he is certain there were at least four shots fired, and perhaps five.

"Now, the ones that came from up the street [the Depository area] were quite a bit louder than the one from the fence.  That's how I could tell they were from different rifles."  AP, A41

Tom Johnson: [Holland] said he saw smoke issue from the trees near the fence at the same time he heard the report.  AP, CW

Also Warren Commission-Report, New York Times, Peter Kihss, 11/23.

12/66
... But the contradiction between the FBI and the Commission account of the autopsy findings [about the back wound] is more than must a "loose end."  It is crucial to the question of whether or not Oswald acted alone.  …

p. 207, chart: How the leading theorists answer the leading questions.

p. 207 No. 3 in primer of assassination theories.

The head movement theory, credited to Vincent Salandria, who used two slide projectors to project and superimpose frame 316 over 313 to show that JFK's head moved back and to the left, indicating a hit from the right front.  Diagram printed. Esquire, Who's Afraid of the Warren Report ?, Edward Jay Epstein

1/30/67
London - Marathon telecast by BBC on JFK death, using part of Lane's film, ends with a split verdict by a "jury" of Lord Devlin and Alexander Bickel of Yale.

Lane debated David Belin and Arlen Specter in an "angry confrontation."

Specter made the interesting admission that the one-bullet theory was "not indispensable" to the Warren Commission case, that there could have been an earlier shot fired by Oswald, meaning that Governor Connally could have been struck by a second shot, he said.

Devlin and Bickel held that Lane, whose film was shown in part, had presented no new evidence.  But whereas Devlin said the public interest already had been served by the Warren Commission findings, Bickel said he still felt the confused evidence over the number of bullets justified a reopening of the case by a small, full-time official body.  San Francisco Chronicle, Times-Post Service
1/30/67
New York Times version, same date, says a British Royal Marine fired a Carcano three times in 2.6 seconds on one try, thrice in 3.9 seconds.  No indication: whether he aiming at a target, but presumably not since he was firing blanks.

7/17/67
New Orleans -- Garrison, in rebuttal to NBC program of 6/19/67, said there were at least three assassins, two firing from two locations behind and one from the front.  Says JFK and Connally struck almost simultaneously by bullets from the rear and the President was hit by a bullet from the front.  New York Times
See also San Francisco Examiner Chronicle, UPI 7/15/67

7/31/67
Professor Luis Alvarez, UC physicist, writes article in The Magnet, Lawrence Radiation Laboratory staff publication, on his analysis of Zapruder film: that streaks and distortions in the pictures indicate three distinct stress periods when the photographer must have been reaction to the shots, and that these indicate the gunman had as much as 7 seconds for the three shots instead of the 5.6 the Warren Commission figured.  San Francisco Examiner, George Dusheck
9/11/67
In October Playboy, out tomorrow, Garrison says "The President was assassinated by a precision guerrilla team of at least seven men, including anti-Castro adventurers and members of the paramilitary right."  Says two men on grassy moll behind picket fence, two more behind a small stone wall to the right, with one man firing from each position with his partner picking up the cartridges.  In addition two other men fired from behind - one from the Texas School Book Depository and one probably from the Dal-Tex Building.  A seventh man had just staged an epileptic fit to distract attention from the snipers.  Says Oswald was a scapegoat.  New York Times, [9/11/67]

11/24-12/1/67
A detailed analysis of the Mary Moorman photograph and what happened to it.  How it allegedly shows a man holding a straight object half-hidden behind the stone wall by the pergola.  LA Free Press, Blow-Up!! November 22,1963, Raymond Marcus
12/22/67
Garrison, in Albuquerque speech 12/15/67, says four, possibly five shot sources: 1.  Dal-Tex or Records building, 2.  Texas School Book Depository [not Oswald, who never above 2nd floor]  3.  grassy knoll, and 4.  storm drain.  See storm drain references.  12/22/67.  LA Free Press
1/24/68
Thompson said he had interviewed Dr. McClelland, who told him that earlier report of a-wound in the left temple was a mistake - there was no wound in left temple.  Tape No. 66, at 350’ [Sony 104]  Josiah Thompson, Interviewed by Owen Spann, KGO

See Medical, 4/10/67; 1/24/68, Dr. McClelland, Dr. David Stewart, Father Oscar Huber.

10/5/72
Penn Jones' listing of order and direction of seven shots.  Midlothian Mirror, Penn Jones

